I. Welcome

II. Introduction of Board

AGENDA

BREVARD BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT - SPECIAL CALLED MEETING

Friday, March 13,2026 - 2:00 PM
City Council Chambers

Members

II1. Certification of Qquorum

IV. Approval of Agenda
V. Approval of Minutes

a. Draft Minutes
b. Draft Minutes

VI. Approval of Orders
VII. Unfinished Business

VIII. New Business
a. VAR-26-0001
b. VAR-26-0002

IX. Remarks

a. Rescheduling: April 7th, 2026, Meeting (No Quorum)

X. Adjourn

01/06/2026
02/03/2026

- 775 Camptown Rd.
- 85 Trent Rd.

Agenda Posted, Website (March 6, 2026)

V. Gass, Clerk to the Board

To review Agenda materials, go to the City’s website www.cityofbrevard.com. Select “Your
Government” tab followed by “Agenda Packet” tab. Agenda packet materials are posted on Friday

afternoon prior to the meeting.

Page 1 of 43


https://brevardnc.v8.civicclerk.com/Meetings/Agenda/ItemFields?id=7531
https://brevardnc.v8.civicclerk.com/Meetings/Agenda/ItemFields?id=7532

MINUTES
BREVARD BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT REGULAR MEETING
Tuesday, January 6t, 2025- 3:00 PM

The Brevard Board of Adjustment (BOA) met for a regular meeting on Tuesday September 2nd, 2025,
at 3:00 PM.

Members Present: Peter Offen, Chair
Reid Wood
Jackson Tate
Alan Mercaldo
Staff Present: Katherine Poe, Planner

Madalin Baker, Board Clerk

Aaron Bland, Assistant Planning Director
Paul Ray, Planning Director

Brian Gulden, Board Attorney

Guests: Jeffrey Johnson, tenant at 109 Hendersonville Hwy
Josh McKinney, tenant at 109 Hendersonville Hwy
Neal Stanifer, Attorney & Agent for Gumstand Gap LLC, owner of 109
Hendersonville Hwy
James Veal, Appellant, owner of 231 Pinnacle Rd.
Roy Robinson, Appellant, owner of 245 Pinnacle Rd.
Elliot Duggar, Attorney representing James Veal and Roy Robinson
Mack McKeller, City Attorney

I. WELCOME

Chair, Peter Offen, called the meeting to order at 3:04 PM and welcomed those present.

II. INTRODUCTION OF BOARD MEMBERS

Board members and Staff introduced themselves.

III. CERTIFICATION OF QUORUM

P. Offen had the Clerk certify that a quorum of the Board was present.

IV. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
Motion to approve the agenda made by A. Mercaldo, seconded by R. Wood, carried unanimously.
V. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

A. Mercaldo motioned to approve the September minutes as written, J. Tate seconded, carried
unanimously.

VI. APPROVAL OF ORDERS

Page 2 of 43



Minutes - Brevard Board of Adjustment 2

None.
VII. NEW BUSINESS
A. Consideration of VAR-25-0001 - Pisgah Social, 109 Hendersonville Highway

P. Offen, Chair, explained quasi-judicial procedures and standing.

The following were sworn: Jeffrey Johnson, Josh McKinney, Neal Stanifer. No ethical
conflicts were found. P. Offen opened the hearing.

K. Poe presented her staff report, a portion of which follows:

Pisgah Social, a new tenant at 109 Hendersonville Hwy, is scheduled to open a multi-
business food restaurant. The property is located in the Downtown Mixed-Use (DMX)
zoning district and within the City’s municipal limits. The parcel identification number is
8597-55-3136-000 and is owned by Gumstand Gap LLC. The appointed agent, attorney Neal
Stanifer, will be representing both the property owner and tenant. The applicant is
requesting a variance from the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Chapter 12.6.K,
which prohibits awning signs on buildings and became effective in early November 2025.
There is already one (1) awning sign, which was permitted prior to them becoming
prohibited. The request is limited to two (2) additional signs mounted on the awning
structure only, defined for the purpose of this request as the portion of the structure that is
attached to the building facade but supported by vertical posts. The request does not
include signage on the roof of the main building, which is considered a separate structural
element and is not part of this variance request. Notice of the hearing was advertised and
posted on the property in accordance with North Carolina General Statute §160D-406.

Following her staff report, K. Poe looked to the Board for questions. P. Offen asked what
regulations apply to signs on roofs, as opposed to awnings. K. Poe shared signs on roofs are
prohibited. A. Mercaldo asked about the possibility of “attaching” the two additional signs to
the existing permitted sign, which K. Poe shared was not allowed as it would be expanding
an existing nonconformity.

Neal Stanifer shared his presentation, attached. He explained the business model for Pisgah
Social is that of a food hall, featuring two separate restaurant options and one bar inside the
same building, an operational concept that is growing nationwide. He shared the
topography of new NCDOT road construction makes the visibility of the structure from the
street level very limited, noting the road construction puts the grade of the street 12-15 feet
higher than the previously existing road grade. This unique topography makes a wall sign
invisible to street traffic, due to the grade and the existing awning on the building. The
applicant cited trying alternative options in an effort to comply with the ordinance, but
ultimately the property does not lend itself to advertising in any other way. A. Mercaldo
asked about the value in advertising Pisgah Social separately, and J. Johnson shared that
Pisgah Social is the business on the lease and will be the functional name of the bar inside—
both kitchens lease from Pisgah Social. He said this would also protect the longevity of the
project, if there were to be new tenants inside the building in the future, the name of the
food hall could remain Pisgah Social.

Page 3 of 43



Minutes - Brevard Board of Adjustment 3

P. Offen asked if it would be possible to mount a wall sign in the gap between the top of the
awning and the roofline, and K. Poe shared that would not be viable given the size of the
sign. R. Wood asked if the proposed signs would be illuminated, and J. Johnson shared that
yes, they hope to illuminate the signs externally following installation.

B. Gulden provided additional details regarding quasi-judicial proceedings, noting that as
only 4 board members are present, all four would have to vote yes for the variance to be
approved. B. Gulden shared they could request the case be taken up at the next meeting if
desired. The applicant discussed and decided they would still like the case heard today.

A. Mercaldo asked K. Poe when the other two signs were erected, and Katherine clarified
they were installed prior to the ordinance change in November of 2025 but were
unpermitted. J. Johnson shared the total square footage of the three signs was kept under 64
square feet, which they mistakenly thought was covered under the first permit they were
issued, which was only for the Pisgah Social sign.

P. Offen asked the applicants what harm they anticipate by not being able to advertise NC
Smash and Cheef Eats independently. J. Johnson expressed fears of revenue loss operating a
business with no exterior signage and not being able to appeal to tourist traffic as well,
citing that each restaurant has name recognition around Brevard. P. Offen asked some
clarifying questions regarding the timeline of events. ]. Johnson shared they leased the
building in February of 2025, the NCDOT road construction began at the end of 2024, but
they did not have any knowledge of NCDOT'’s plans to raise the grade of the road.

A. Mercaldo asked the City how the square footage of signage is calculated. K. Poe shared it
is calculated based off of the smallest rectangle that would fit around all the curves of a sign.
J. Johnson mentioned the size of the previously existing Pisgah Fish Camp sign, and B.
Gulden informed the applicants they would be entitled to permit choice. The applicants
clarified they would like the variance considered under the sign ordinance as it was prior to
November of 2025, when updates were made regarding awning signs. A. Mercaldo asked
what the combined square footage of the three requested signs would be, and J. Johnson
shared it would not be more than 36 total square feet.

P. Offen saw there were no further questions and closed the hearing.

J. Tate expressed concern that approving three awning signs might set a dangerous
precedent for other businesses in town. B. Gulden reminded the Board of the outright
prohibition of awning signs included in the November 2025 ordinance change, noting other
businesses would be subject to already codified regulation changes.

P. Offen made the following motion:

With regard to variance request 25-0001, the application of Gumstand Gap LLC, through its

agent Austin Walker, seeking a variance from Chapter 12.6.K of the UDO for property

located 109 Hendersonville Hwy, Brevard, North Carolina, within the Downtown Mixed-Use

Zoning District, | move the Board to make the following findings of fact:

a. thatunnecessary hardship would result from the strict application of the regulations,
defeating the purpose of the business, causing loss of revenue, limiting advertising
ability to local and tourist clientele alike;

Page 4 of 43



Minutes - Brevard Board of Adjustment 4

b. the hardship results /from conditions that are peculiar to the property such as location,
size, or topography, resulting from significant changes in grade due to NCDOT road
construction, the building position making wall signage difficult to utilize;

c. the hardship did not result in actions taken by the applicant or owner, the lease being
entered into before the state grading work was complete, and city sign ordinances being
updated in November of 2025;

d. the requested variance is consistent with the spirit, purpose, and intent of the
regulations such that public safety is secured, and substantial justice is achieved,
respective of permit choice and the sign ordinance as it stood in October of 2025,
denoting a maximum square footage for signage of 64 square feet;

Accordingly, I further move the board to GRANT the requested variance to allow for the

installation of two additional awning signs on the subject property in accordance with and

only to the extent and within the area represented in the application and plans, with no
additional future signage to be added to the awning.

J. Tate seconded the motion, passed unanimously. The applicants requested the Order be
approved via email.

B. Consideration of APP-25-0001: Administrative appeal of the Planning Department decision
Regarding Permits ENC-25-006 and ENC-25-007

P. Offen, Chair, explained quasi-judicial procedures and standing. B. Gulden followed,
providing additional context regarding appeal proceedings.

Amy Kelton stated she wished to be granted standing. A. Kelton stated she owns the
property at 159 Pinnacle Road, the closest residence to the properties in question. A. Kelton
was sworn. P. Offen asked her to share why she might suffer special damages or harm
unique from other properties in the community. A. Kelton shared that in July of 2022, J. Veal
continued construction activities after receiving a stop work order from the City, continued
loud construction into the night, with general disregard for the neighborhood. She shared
she is concerned that the appellant displays a history of disregard for the city’s rules and
regulations. A. Kelton shared she is concerned that ]. Veal could contaminate wells in the
area or cause other environmental harm should work begin the install driveways at 245 and
231 Pinnacle Road, as proposed. A. Mercaldo asked if there are other homes in that
proximity, and A. Kelton said yes, that all the other homes in the area are downhill from the
appellants’ properties. B. Gulden reminded the Board that proximity alone is not grounds
for granting standing.

Elliot Duggar, Attorney representing James Veal and Roy Robinson, questioned A. Kelton. He
asked if A. Kelton is claiming damages based on ]. Veal’s previous activities, and she
responded yes—his history of bright lights and loud noises continuing past the workday
had negatively impacted her family on many occasions in 2022. A. Kelton noted she only
filed a formal complaint with the city once, but ]. Veal had displayed negligent behavior
repeatedly in the past. E. Duggar asked if any of ]. Veal’s activities have diminished the value
of her property. A. Kelton responded no, no diminution in value, but certainly diminution in
their enjoyment of the property. E. Duggar asked if ]. Veal’s activities in the neighborhood
continue currently, and A. Kelton responded yes, citing he continues to plant trees in the
area on property that he does not own. E. Duggar asked if A. Kelton has any education in

Page 5 of 43



Minutes - Brevard Board of Adjustment 5

erosion management, and A. Kelton said yes, she has attended courses through SORBA
regarding erosion control.

B. Gulden reminded the Board that traffic and property-valuation facts must be presented
by an expert.

A. Mercaldo made a motion to deny standing for A. Kelton. ]J. Tate seconded, and the motion
passed unanimously.

Ethical considerations were made. P. Offen disclosed that M. McKeller is his father-in-law.
No ethical conflicts were found. P. Offen opened the hearing. The following were sworn: Roy
Ray Robinson, James Veal, Paul Ray, and Aaron Bland.

P. Ray presented his staff report, a portion of which follows:

Background: Two driveway applications for neighboring parcels located in the vicinity of
the end of Pinnacle Road, near but beyond the parking lot and trailhead for the City-owned
Bracken Preserve trails, were submitted on August 6, 2025. One for 231 Pinnacle Road (PIN
8576-83-5643-000) was submitted by owner James Veal, and one for 245 Pinnacle Road
(PIN 8579-83-4791-000) by owner Roy Robinson. These were assigned to Assistant
Planning Director Aaron Bland for review.

The two subject parcels are "landlocked"” in that they have no frontage on a public street
right-of-way. The Transylvania County tax map shows that the Pinnacle Drive ROW
continues beyond the Bracken parking lot to the front of these parcels, however this is a
mapping error. The exact extent of NCDOT maintenance and ownership of Pinnacle Drive is
unclear. Different surveys show state maintenance ending in different places, but none
show it extending as far as the subject parcels, and it is not improved beyond the parking
lot. The official NCDOT State Maintained Network Map does not include Pinnacle Road at al,
meaning that it is not maintained by NCDOT. This listing shows SR-1350 (the number
attached to Pinnacle Road on surveys) as only being the 0.2-mile-long paved Music Camp
Road, from Probart Street to Bishops Knoll. The entire unpaved Pinnacle Road is listed as
“non-system” on official NCDOT maps.

The City's Bracken Mountain Trail leaves the parking lot and ascends to Bracken Preserve
through a 50-foot-wide right-of-way that crosses several private properties between the
parking lot and the City-owned Bracken Preserve parcel. This ROW was obtained by the City
in 2008, and the public hiking/biking trail was opened to the public in July 2012. Properties
in the area were once served by a small private road called Mackey Ridge Road, which was
located in the vicinity of the current trail, but it is no longer in existence and never had a
public right-of-way. This area is outside the City's corporate limits in the extraterritorial
jurisdiction, and all subject parcels are zoned General Residential - 4 (GR4).

Administrative Decision: Below is a summary of the email correspondence between Mr.
Bland and Mr. Veal regarding the review of the applications. The full email chain, including
referenced attachments, is included in this packet.

On August 8th, Mr. Bland emailed Mr. Veal and Mr. Robinson that he had some confusion

reading the submitted site plans and that additional information was needed. Namely, the
location of the City's Bracken Mountain Trail and the ROW that the trail lies within, in an

Page 6 of 43



Minutes - Brevard Board of Adjustment 6

effort to determine if the proposed driveways would be within the trail ROW and how close
they would come to the trail.

On August 28th, Mr. Veal responded by providing copies of portions of the legal documents
from the establishment of the trail ROW, but did not include the requested information
regarding the ROW and the trail's location as they relate to the location of the proposed
driveways.

On August 29th, Mr. Bland responded, again asking for information about the location of the
trail and trail ROW in relation to the proposed driveways. Mr. Bland cited the concern of
potential conflicts with the driveway and the trail/trail users. To illustrate his concerns, Mr.
Bland included an attachment with his own markup on the original site plans illustrating
how much of the proposed driveways were seemingly shown within the City's trail ROW.
Additionally, Mr. Bland pointed out that each driveway was shown to be constructed
beyond the property lines.

On September 11th, Mr. Veal responded with additional site plans, however, they did not
include the requested information of the location of the Bracken Mountain Trail. Mr. Veal
indicated that the driveways would connect to Mackey Ridge Road as if it was still in
existence. Mr. Veal's email also suggested that there could be "shared access" from the
Bracken parking lot to the new driveways, presumably indicating that trail users on bike
and foot would share the same travel corridor as vehicles using the driveways. However,
nothing was shown on the site plans between the "mouth"” of the driveways and the end of
the public street of Pinnacle Road to show how this shared access portion would be
improved to allow for a vehicle to traverse it. Nor was any evidence of an access easement
across the properties required to reach the subject properties from Pinnacle Road.

On September 19th, Mr. Bland responded that given the materials provided, he was unable
to fully review the applications and had no option but to deny them. He cited a lack of
information about how the proposed driveways would interact with and possibly impact
the Bracken Mountain Trail and the safety of users on it, as well as a lack of information
about how vehicles would get to the driveways from the end of Pinnacle Road.

On October 6th, Mr. Veal and Mr. Robison both filed an appeal of their denials with the City
Clerk (submissions are attached).

Discussion: The Unified Development Ordinance has some standards for driveways,
however these are predicated on the notion that the driveway is connecting to a public
street within a public right-of-way, neither of which is the case for these permits. For
example, Section 13.8.B states (emphasis added) “No driveway or curb cut shall be less than
12 feet nor greater than 24 feet in width at the point of intersection with the margin of the
right-of-way of any street located in the city...”

Many provisions of the ordinance assume frontage on a public street, which these subject
parcels do not have, a condition known as “landlocked parcels.” Section 14.6 of the UDO
discusses nonconforming lots such as the subject parcels. Subsection D states that “the
administrator may permit the establishment of a private right-of-way or access easement in
order to facilitate access to pre-existing land-locked parcels.” The City’s trail ROW does not
convey private use to access these parcels, but rather public use to access Bracken Preserve.
No evidence of other access easements for such private use to access the subject parcels
was provided.

Page 7 of 43



Minutes - Brevard Board of Adjustment 7

The overarching goal and purpose of the City’s UDO and regulations in general, as well as
the enabling state legislation that allows for zoning authority, is to promote public health,
safety, and general welfare (UDO Section 1.2). Therefore, ensuring the safety of Bracken
Preserve trail users, as well as any potential users of the driveways, was a primary concern
when reviewing these applications. Mr. Bland’s request for the location of the existing trail
within the ROW was in order to ascertain if the vehicular traffic using the driveways would
cross over or otherwise conflict with trail users. Without the location of the trails shown on
the site plan, this was not able to be evaluated. Section 17.2.C of the UDO states that “The
administrator shall have the authority to deny and return any submitted land development
permit application and associated development plans upon a determination that such
submitted items are insufficient...” Mr. Bland determined that the submitted plans were
insufficient because they did not show 1) the location of the trail to determine potential
user conflicts, 2) how cars could legally access the driveways from Pinnacle Road where it
ends at the Bracken parking lot, and 3) how cars could physically traverse the terrain from
the parking lot to the subject parcels.

Further, UDO Section 16.5.C.1 states that applications must contain “all information and
materials required by this ordinance for submittal of the applicable type of application, and
in sufficient detail, format, and readability for city staff to evaluate the application for
compliance with applicable review standards.” It is the Planning Department’s position that
these applications did not contain such “sufficient detail” for review of both potential safety
conflicts with trail users and legal/physical access from where Pinnacle Road ends in the
parking lot.

There is a gap between where Pinnacle Road stops being a public street and the proposed
driveways. How large this gap is varies by source, but there is undoubtedly a gap. The
applicant seemed to indicate that it was acceptable to connect to the trail ROW, as if it was a
public street ROW, due to the language of the legal documents establishing the City's trail
ROW. These are written to allow for "all vehicular and pedestrian travel across the
property" in order to "serve [Bracken Preserve], providing ingress, egress and regress
thereto."

The inclusion of vehicular travel gives the City the right and ability to allow such use of the
ROW, but not the obligation to install a road capable of providing such use. The City cannot
establish a City street outside the corporate limits. Thus, to date, the City has chosen to only
allow travel through the ROW to Bracken Preserve by foot and bike. The decision to
exercise the right to allow vehicles is a policy decision that cannot be made by Planning
Staff. Again, no evidence of additional access easements for the purpose of traversing the
private properties between the end of Pinnacle Road and the subject parcels was provided,
therefore Staff assumes there is no such guaranteed access to these parcels from Pinnacle
Road. [end staff report].

Following P. Ray’s staff report, M. McKeller asked that the staff report and all accompanying
attachments be submitted as evidence. M. McKeller questioned Paul. M. McKeller asked if
the Bracken Preserve trailhead is in City Limits, and P. Ray answered no. M. McKeller asked
if the City is allowed to maintain roads outside of the City limits, and P. Ray answered no. M.
McKeller asked if the right of way that provided access from the parking lot to the bracken
preserve is owned by the City, and P. Ray said no. M. McKeller asked if, in reviewing any of
the submitted plans, if the City was shown any plan that showed any parcel linking to a

Page 8 of 43



Minutes - Brevard Board of Adjustment 8

public road, and P. Ray answered no. M. McKeller asked if any additional information was
provided to the city other than the attachments included in the staff report, and P. Ray
answered no. M. McKeller confirmed he had no further questions for the City.

E. Duggar questioned the City. E. Duggar asked P. Ray to list his professional credentials as a
City Planner. P. Ray cited having a bachelor's degree in public administration, taking
courses through the UNC School of Government, and over 20 years of professional
experience in City and Regional Planning and building inspections across multiple
municipalities. E. Duggar said he would like P. Ray to be qualified as an expert witness in
City Planning. E. Duggar asked P. Ray if he engaged in any outside communications
regarding the case beyond what is included in the staff report. P. Ray responded no, only
conversations with City staff, not Board of Adjustment members or City Council.

E. Duggar asked P. Ray how he concluded there was not a public street right of way in front
of the properties at 231 and 245 Pinnacle Rd. P. Ray shared A. Bland communicated with
NCDOT to ascertain the location of their right of way, and NCDOT confirmed their right of
way does not extend that far. P. Ray clarified he is summarizing the staff report, but that A.
Bland can be called as a witness as well regarding specific communications with NCDOT. E.
Duggar asked what steps have been taken by the City to clarify the end of NCDOT ownership
and maintenance of Pinnacle Drive [sic]. P. Offen interjected, telling E. Duggar that his
question might be more appropriate to ask A. Bland after he concludes questioning P. Ray,
for the sake of clarity and time. E. Duggar noted he had no further questions for P. Ray.

The Board questioned the City.

A. Mercaldo asked P. Ray if the two subject properties were subdivided from one larger lot
at some point, and P. Ray responded yes, they were subdivided at various times in history.

P. Offen asked if there is any paved road or improvements planned connecting to the
location of the proposed driveway and asked what the existing terrain there is like. P. Ray
noted the frontage of the two subject parcels features rugged terrain, and the City has no
clarity on how the applicant would be able to safely navigate to the proposed driveway
location in a car. P. Ray noted the City’s trail lies within that 50-foot right-of-way, from the
parking lot.

J. Tate asked P. Ray what the width of the area being used to access the subject parcels via
vehicles is. P. Ray noted there is currently no vehicular access to the subject parcels. P. Offen
asked how the other structures in the attached map area are accessed, and P. Ray shared
access to those structures would be via private road. P. Offen clarified that state
maintenance of Pinnacle Road ends before the City’s parking lot, and P. Ray said yes. |. Tate
asked if the deeds for either subject property mention right of way access, and P. Ray shared
he was unsure, as he did not perform a title search.

R. Wood asked about the origins of the label “Mackey Ridge Road,” as notated on page 33 of
the agenda packet. P. Ray shared it was never an official road from what the City can tell,
and that it was likely a private dirt road historically, emphasizing that the road was never
an official one. A. Mercaldo asked if the current Bracken Mountain Trail is overlaid in the
location where that potential private road previously was, and P. Ray said yes. A. Mercaldo
asked if the City took any action to clear the trail area, or if it includes natural foliage. P. Ray
responded there is no evidence on the ground currently that Mackey Ridge Road ever

Page 9 of 43



Minutes - Brevard Board of Adjustment 9

existed. A. Mercaldo noted that the path of Bracken Mountain Trail, which is city-owned,
runs from the city-owned parking lot to the other portion of city-owned property, and P.
Ray said that was correct. A. Mercaldo asked the City to clarify the ownership of the portion
of land that connects the two City owned properties, and P. Ray shared the connecting bit
was condemned for use as a right-of-way in 2008. The Board had no further questions for
the City.

E. Duggar called A. Bland to testify. E. Duggar asked A. Bland to summarize his
qualifications. A. Bland shared he has a master’s degree in city and regional planning, he is
an AICP certified planner by the American Planning Association, is a Certified Zoning Official
by the state of North Carolina, and has been working in Brevard for 14 years. E. Duggar
moved to have A. Bland qualified as an expert witness in the scope of his report.

E. Duggar asked A. Bland how he concluded that the tax map, showing the Pinnacle Drive
[sic.] right of way extending beyond the Bracken parking lot and to the front of the subject
parcels, was a mapping error. A. Bland noted that many surveys have been performed of the
area over the years, and while none of the surveys seem to exactly agree, none of the
surveys indicate Pinnacle Road extending as far as is shown on the county tax map.
Additionally, A. Bland cited correspondence with NCDOT District Engineer Troy Wilson,
who said they do not claim or own Pinnacle Road in front of the subject parcels and that the
state street network map identifies the subject portion of Pinnacle Road as “non-system
road,” indicating it is not theirs [NCDOTs]. A. Bland emphasized once again that none of the
information he reviewed indicated Pinnacle Road extending as far as the tax map would
indicate. E. Duggar asked how exactly A. Bland would determine which map was most
accurate and asked if A. Bland could say with professional certainty that the tax map is
inaccurate. A. Bland responded yes, he would say the tax map is inaccurate. E. Duggar asked
if A. Bland would agree that there is no clarity, and A. Bland agreed, saying not based on
what he has seen. E. Duggar asked A. Bland if it is possible that the tax map is the correct
one. A. Bland responded saying if he saw a document that showed the same thing as the tax
map then yes. E. Duggar followed up asking if it is possible that the tax map is the accurate
one, given that we don’t have any accurate one [map] necessarily. A. Bland responded,
saying it is possible that any of the maps are the accurate one. E. Duggar asked A. Bland if
this would be the basis of the conclusion that the maintenance and ownership of Pinnacle
Drive [sic] are unclear, and A. Bland said yes.

E. Duggar asked if, beyond what was already testified to, the NCDOT weighed in on what
they thought. A. Bland said yes, sharing Troy Wilson’s email stated that NCDOT owns the 0.2
miles of SR-1350, Music Camp Road, running from Probart Street to just shy of the rear
entrance to the Music Center. The entirety of the gravel portion of the road is not claimed or
maintained by NCDOT, according to Mr. Wilson.

E. Duggar asked A. Bland if he had seen the name Mackey Ridge Road on any surveys, and A.
Bland responded yes. E. Duggar asked if Mackey Ridge Road is superimposed on SR-1350 at
any point in time, and A. Bland said that depends on your definition of the end of SR-1350.

E. Duggar recalled that A. Bland said the entirety of the unpaved portion of Pinnacle Road is
listed as a non-system road on NCDOT maps, and asked A. Bland to define what nonsystem
means. A. Bland shared it means the street is not a part of the official NCDOT street system,
indicating roads that could be private or could be city owned. E. Duggar noted that means
the road could be under the control of another government entity, and A. Bland said yes, the

Page 10 of 43



Minutes - Brevard Board of Adjustment 10

non-system designation simply indicates the street is not in the NCDOT system. E. Duggar
noted the designation could indicate a road owned by a forest service, and A. Bland said yes.

E. Duggar referenced one of the maps in the packet, asking A. Bland for insight on the label
that reads “existing old roadbed, +/- 10 ft wide.” A. Bland said he does not know what that
label is referring to. E. Duggar noted that we don’t know what that roadbed is, and A. Bland
said no, he does not know. E. Dugar asked if it is possible that it is the former Mackey Ridge
Road, and A. Bland said yes, but emphasized once again that he does not know anything
beyond what the plat states. E. Duggar asked if all of the surveys within the City’s possession
agree on the location of the easement lines and property lines in the subject area, and A.
Bland said he would assume so, but has not compared the corner points of the easements on
each of the plats, noting that as they are performed by licensed surveyors. E. Duggar noted
that surveyors occasionally disagree and make mistakes, to which A. Bland replied sure, and
E. Dugar asked if he would agree that it’s possible the surveys may disagree with each other,
to which A. Bland replied they may.

E. Duggar asked A. Bland to indicate where the bike path is on the map, and A. Bland did so,
sharing the trail is the blue line. E. Duggar noted the easement is indicated by the white line
and asked if the roadbed is seen topographically on the map. A. Bland said he does not have
a survey that indicates the position of the bike trail as well on the same map, noting that is
what he asked the applicants for originally was a site plan that showed the position of the
trail on the same site plan as the driveway, so he could tell if they conflicted. A. Bland said
he never received such a plan as requested, which was the reason for his denial of the
original applications.

E. Duggar asked how wide the bike trail is, and A. Bland said 3 feet. E. Duggar asked if it is
common to have a 50 foot easement for a bike trail that is 3 feet wide, and A. Bland
responded he does not know, as he does not have many other easements to compare it to,
but he knows that you do need some space when working with mountainous terrain to
maneuver the trail across the changing topography—the trail cannot simply be a straight
line.

E. Duggar asked A. Bland how wide a typical roadway is in the city, and A. Bland shared that
aroad is usually 11 to 13 feet wide per lane. M. McKeller reminded the Board that the
question before them is whether enough information was given to the City for a decision to
be made. P. Offen asked E. Duggar for the reasoning behind his line of questioning, and E.
Duggar said his questions are drawn from the staff report.

E. Duggar asked A. Bland how he knows that Mackey Ridge Road ever existed. A. Bland said
it has been shown on some of the plats and mentioned by J. Veal in conversations. A. Bland
said a roadbed is identified on some of the plats, but he does not recall if any label is given
to the roadbed. E. Duggar asked when, how, and by whom was Mackey Ridge Road closed, if
A. Bland believes it to have existed at some point in time. A. Bland said he does not know the
answer to any of that, as it is not part of the review of a driveway permit. E. Duggar asked A.
Bland what information he relied on the conclude that Mackey Ridge Road was never a
public road, and A. Bland noted he never saw any evidence of it, as is is not an NCDOT road
and cannot be a City road, and those are the only tow options for public ownership. E.
Duggar asked if it might be accepted as a public road by some other agency, and A. Bland
said it might be, but he saw no evidence of such a conclusion. A. Bland re-emphasized that
his review was only of those materials submitted in the application. E. Duggar asked if A.

Page 11 of 43



Minutes - Brevard Board of Adjustment 11

Bland has access to maps that show where the trail goes, and A. Bland said yes. E. Duggar
restated that we do not know who, how, why, or when Mackey Ridge Road was closed, and
A. Bland followed noting he does not know if there was something to be closed, if it was
simply a private, flat, drivable surface, there was nothing to be closed or abandoned
officially, it is simply disused.

E. Duggar asked if A. Bland had any knowledge of people using the old roadbed to access
properties in the past, and A. Bland said no, only what he had been told by ]. Veal. E. Duggar
asked if A. Bland has access to the City’s original site plans for the bike path, and A. Bland
said yes, the Bracken Masterplan, which is available to the public. E. Duggar asked A. Bland
if it does not make perfect sense that in the applications presented by J. Veal and R.
Robinson, they were asking to cut driveways to the 50 foot right of way. A. Bland replied
that when he first received the applications, he was unsure what they were trying to
connect to because there is no drivable road in that area. E. Duggar referenced the map
included in page 37 of the packet, and asked A. Bland if it was fair to say that he had enough
information to make a determination about the driveway. A. Bland said his intention when
drawing the colored elements of the referenced map was to clarify that he was interpreting
it correctly, and he sent it back to J. Veal for clarification. A. Bland said he also requested ].
Veal add the location of the trail on the site plan, to know if the proposed driveway would
cross the trail, etc. A. Bland specified he drew the highlights on the map, not the base survey.
E. Duggar asked A. Bland if he had a map of the location of the bike trail, and A. Bland said
yes, he does, but his map of the bike trail does not include the proposed driveways on it. E.
Duggar asked if A. Bland could not figure out where the trail would be in relation to the
easement, and A. Bland said no, not with enough certainty to understand potential safety
hazards for trail users. A. Bland said he was never able to evaluate potential danger to trail
users, as he never received a plan that included both the proposed driveway and the trail. E.
Duggar once again asked A. Bland if he knew the location of the trail, and A. Bland said yes.
E. Duggar asked how A. Bland concluded he did not have enough information, and A. Bland
said because it is not on the site plan.

The appellant took a recess.

Upon returning from recess, E. Duggar asked A. Bland if he knew when the City started
discussions around using that right of way as a bike trail, and A. Bland said yes, that talks
were in progress in 2012 when he started at the City. E. Dugar asked if the City began
discussions about putting the trail on the right of way before or after they condemned the
property, and A. Bland said he was unsure, but noted that the trail physically existed when
he started working for the City, unopened to the public. E. Duggar had no further questions.

M. McKeller questioned A. Bland. M. McKeller asked if it is true that the county has a
disclosure statement saying the tax map should not be used as a legal document, and A.
Bland responded yes. M. McKeller asked if A. Bland would consider the county tax map less
accurate than maps held by NCDOT, and A. Bland responded yes. M. McKeller asked if it is
true that counties are not allowed to own or maintain rights of way, and A. Bland responded
yes. M. McKeller asked if the right of way in question is outside of the City of Brevard limits,
and A. Bland responded yes. M. McKeller asked if it is true that the right of way can only be
used for access from the City owned parking lot to the City owned Bracken property, and A.
Bland responded yes. M. McKeller asked if it was imperative that the precise location of the
trail is specified before allowing any vehicular traffic in the area, and A. Bland responded
yes. M. McKeller asked A. Bland if he is aware of any paved road called Mackey Ridge road,

Page 12 of 43



Minutes - Brevard Board of Adjustment 12

and A. Bland responded no. M. McKeller referenced the plat on page 39 of the agenda
packet, noting the plat reads “unable to positively identify exact location of road.” A. Bland
stated again that he is unaware of any road in the area. M. McKeller asked if A. Bland was a
bike rider, and A. Bland said yes, noting he has biked the City’s bracken preserve many
times. M. McKeller asked if there are any remnants of a road there, and A. Bland said no,
nothing you could drive a vehicle down.

No further questions were found. E. Duggar called |. Veal to testify.

E. Duggar asked ]. Veal to summarize his qualifications. ]. Veal noted a long career in
architecture, where he is registered in Florida, Alabama, and North Carolina. E. Duggar
asked him to elaborate on his experience with deeds and plats, and ]. Veal noted that he is
well versed in reviewing surveys. E. Duggar asked that J. Veal be qualified as an expert
witness. B. Gulden cautioned the Board against naming the same person as both a fact
witness and an expert witness. P. Offen said the Board would not qualify J. Veal as an expert
witness.

E. Duggar asked J. Veal if there is a survey in the packet that shows where the easement, the
bike path, and Mackey Ridge road all intertwine. J. Veal responded yes. E. Duggar invited ].
Veal to take the Board through those. ]. Veal began to discuss the history of the ownership of
the properties in the subject area. E. Duggar asked where ]. Veal found the surveys and
information presented in his application, and ]. Veal cited the deed office and Angela
Towlard as sources.

]. Tate made a motion to table the agenda item (B) until the February 3rd Board of
Adjustment meeting, to be held at 3:00 PM in the City Council Chambers. A. Mercaldo
seconded the motion, and it passed unanimously.

A. 2026 Calendar
R. Wood made a motion to approve the 2026 calendar as written. ]. Tate seconded, and the
motion passed unanimously.

B. 2026 Chair & Vice Chair Elections
J. Tate made a motion that P. Offen remain the Board'’s chair. A. Mercaldo seconded, and the
motion passed unanimously. J. Tate made a motion that A. Mercaldo be elected as the
Board'’s vice chair.

VIII. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
None.

IX. REMARKS

None.

X. ADJOURN

R. Wood moved to adjourn the meeting, seconded by A. Mercaldo. The motion carried unanimously.
The meeting was adjourned at 6:12 PM.

Peter Offen, Chair

Page 13 of 43



Minutes - Brevard Board of Adjustment 13

Madalin Baker, Board Clerk

Page 14 of 43



MINUTES
BREVARD BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT REGULAR MEETING
Tuesday, February 3r4,2026- 3:00 PM

The Brevard Board of Adjustment (BOA) met for a regular meeting on Tuesday February 6th, 2026, at
3:00 PM.

Members Present: Peter Offen, Chair
Reid Wood
Jackson Tate
Alan Mercaldo
Gilley Pearson

Staff Present: Katherine Poe, Planner
Madalin Baker, Board Clerk
Aaron Bland, Assistant Planning Director
Paul Ray, Planning Director
Brian Gulden, Board Attorney

Guests: Andrew Riddle, owner at 277 N. Broad St.
James Lee IlI, attorney representing Andrew Riddle

I. WELCOME
Board Chair Peter Offen called the meeting to order at 3:03 PM and welcomed those present.

II. INTRODUCTION OF BOARD MEMBERS

Board members and Staff introduced themselves.

III. CERTIFICATION OF QUORUM

P. Offen had the Clerk certify that a quorum of the Board was present.

IV. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

P. Offen made a motion to strike draft minutes from the agenda, to move “Unfinished Business”
before “New Business,” and to move item B under new business up to item A. A. Mercaldo seconded
the motion, and it passed unanimously.

V. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

A. APP-25-0001: Administrative Appeal Regarding Permits ENC-25-006 and ENC-25-007

B. Gulden took a moment to advise the board.

P. Offen made a motion to table APP-25-0001 and APP-26-0001 to the April meeting, to be
held April 7th, 2026 at 3:00 PM. R. Wood seconded, and the motion passed unanimously.

Page 15 of 43



Minutes - Brevard Board of Adjustment 2

VII. NEW BUSINESS

A. Consideration of APP-26-0001 - 221 Pinnacle Rd.
See motion made under unfinished business.

B. Consideration of VAR-25-0002 - 277 N Broad St.

P. Offen, Chair, explained quasi-judicial procedures and standing.

The following were sworn: Andrew Riddle and Katherine Poe. No ethical conflicts were
found. P. Offen opened the hearing.

K. Poe presented her staff report, a portion of which follows:

The applicant, Sign Systems, is the sign contractor for the owners at 277 N. Broad St,
which is in the Downtown Mixed Use (DMX) zoning district and the Downtown
Development Overlay District. The parcel identification number is 8586-52-8251-000.
The owner, Andrew Riddle, has appointed James W Lee III to represent him at the
hearing. The applicant is requesting a Ground Sign at the corner of N Caldwell St and
Methodist Drive. The Unified Development Ordinance, Chapter 12.9.3.C, permits one
ground sign of 32 square feet max in DMX, but only one A-Frame type sign in the
Downtown Development Overlay District. Notice of the hearing was advertised and
posted on the property in accordance with North Carolina General Statute §160D-406.

Discussion: The property has an existing building, constructed around 1964, that has
recently been remodeled from a shopping center into a medical office. The location of
the building sits between N. Broad St. and N. Caldwell St. with an entrance and parking
primarily on the N. Broad St. side and circulation on all sides. The building has
undergone a substantial renovation and has reconfigured what was previously a back
side service area into a second frontage on N. Caldwell St. The owner wants to mark
both street frontages and entrances with ground signs.

N. Broad Street Sign - Permitted: One ground sign has been permitted for the entrance
near the corner of N. Broad St. and Methodist Dr. The previous shopping center had a
large ground sign near the mid-block entrance on N. Broad St. that was recently
demolished by the redevelopment. NC GS 160D-912.1 permits the non-conforming,
lawfully erected ground sign to be replaced if not expanded in size, so the owner is
allowed to replace the existing ground sign. The permitted sign is 60” high and 71” wide,
or 29.5 square feet. No internal or external lighting is proposed.

N. Caldwell Street Sign - Variance Request: As stated previously, the N. Caldwell St. side
of the existing building was a service area for the tenants of the shopping center, with
no need for signage for patrons. The newly remodeled building has an entrance and
building frontage on N. Caldwell St. and the ground sign on N. Broad St. is not visible
from N. Caldwell St. The two ground signs would be about 285’ apart. The proposed sign
is 60” high and 71” wide, or 29.5 square feet. No internal or external lighting is
proposed.

Investigation: Staff took photos of the previous ground sign during the remodel
construction. There are photos of the previous sign on Google as far back as 2008. There
is no evidence that there has ever been more than one Ground Sign on the property.

Page 16 of 43



Minutes - Brevard Board of Adjustment 3

Following her staff report, K. Poe looked to the Board for questions. A. Mercaldo asked if
there is any verbiage in the UDO specifically regarding signage for a parcel running
along two major roads. K. Poe said there is none, and that the verbiage is clear on
designating “one per parcel.” P. Offen asked if there are alternate locations for the
proposed signs, and K. Poe shared they already have installed various wall signs and
projection signs, but the applicants site wanting something streetside that is visible to
drivers as they approach the parking lot. The Board had no further questions for the
City.

James “Trey” Lee IlI, attorney for the applicant, presented their case. ]. Lee cited that
historically, the building only featured one public entrance facing Broad street, but that
now, the building features two public entrances, one facing Broad street and one facing
Caldwell. ]. Lee called A. Riddle, applicant, to provide additional details to the Board. A.
Riddle shared the Caldwell entrance of the building features a pharmacy, and they want
wayfinding for pharmacy patrons to be as easy and simple as possible, citing the goal to
provide an excellent experience for patients. He noted that the original sign on the
property, previously Princess Plaza and then College Plaza, was 162 square feet—A.
Riddle went on to explain their request is for significantly less square footage of signage.

The Board questioned the Applicant. P. Offen asked what hardship would be faced by
the applicant if the variance was not granted. A. Riddle shared it would not be him who
would suffer, as the property owner, but the people of Brevard who would suffer, as the
variance would maximize patient accessibility to the site. He emphasized the desire to
make both entrances to the property look as presentable and accessible as possible, in
the interest of public safety and welfare. ]. Lee added that with the high levels of traffic
on both Broad street and Caldwell street, that the civil engineer for the project
recommended the two-ground-sign plan would be the safest approach as well. A.
Mercaldo asked if the driveway access onto Caldwell was preexisting, and A. Riddle said
yes, the Princess Plaza used it as a small access road to house dumpsters. J. Tate asked if
the entire building is to serve as a pharmacy, and A. Riddle said no, the building also
features 48 exam rooms, a 300-capacity event space, a 50 capacity conference room,
and many other community resources. P. Offen asked again if the applicant had
considered alternative signage placements before applying for a variance, and A. Riddle
noted that they are seeking just two ground signs for over 2000 sq. ft. of healthcare
space, and called their request “pretty minimal,” again noting the two-sign model was
recommended by other professionals.

P. Offen saw there were no further questions and closed the hearing. The Board
discussed. R. Wood said the additional requested sign is doing more than just
advertising, providing new site-specific information for a property on a very busy street,
and could be in the best interest of public safety. G. Pearson noted that area is not an
easy spot to turn around and could pose a safety hazard. A. Mercaldo agreed, but said he
is not sure that the applicant meets the criteria for facing a “hardship.” Board Attorney
B. Gulden shared a case study from another North Carolina municipality where an
appeals court supported hardship faced by all users of a particular facility as viable, not
just hardship faced by the property owner. P. Offen thanked B. Gulden for his research
and preparation, saying he was also struggling to satisfy the hardship requirement, but

Page 17 of 43



Minutes - Brevard Board of Adjustment 4

acknowledging that hardship would indeed be suffered by the public users of the
medical facility without additional streetside signage.

A.Mercaldo made the following motion: With regard to variance request 25-0002, the
application of 277 N. Broad Street Partners LLC, through its agent James Lee III, seeking
a variance from Chapter 12.9.3.C of the UDO for property located 277 N. Broad Street
Partners, LLC, Brevard, North Carolina, within the Downtown Mixed-Use Zoning
District, | move the Board to make the following findings of fact:

that unnecessary hardship would result from the strict application of the regulations,
making the facility inaccessible to the public and causing increased traffic if a variance is
not granted;

the hardship results from conditions that are peculiar to the property such as location
size or topography, as the property faces two main roads and features two driveway
entrances;

the hardship did not result from actions taken by the applicant or the property owner,
as the site featured two pre-existing driveways;

the requested variance is consistent with the spirit purpose and intent of the
regulations such that Public Safety is secured and substantial Justice achieved, allowing
drivers adequate notice to safely turn into the driveway, and not posing any additional
hazard to visibility.

Accordingly, I further move the board to grant the requested variance to allow for the
installation of an additional ground sign on the subject property in accordance with and
only to the extent and within the area represented in the application and plans and
subject to the following conditions: That the newly erected ground sign shall have a
notation that such entrance is for the pharmacy and pharmacy entrance.

J. Tate seconded the motion, passed unanimously. The applicants requested the Order be
approved via email.

IX. REMARKS

The Board considered rescheduling the March 3rd meeting, as A. Mercaldo noted he would be
absent at the March 3rd meeting due to his commitments as a poll worker. Following discussion, the
Board decided to leave the March 314 meeting as originally scheduled.

X. ADJOURN

R. Wood moved to adjourn the meeting, seconded by A. Mercaldo. The motion carried unanimously.
The meeting was adjourned at 3:57 PM.

Peter Offen, Chair

Madalin Baker, Board Clerk

Page 18 of 43



STAFF REPORT
Board of Adjustment, Tuesday, March 3, 2026

Title: VAR-26-0001 - 775 Camptown Rd.

Speaker: Katherine Poe

Prepared by: Katherine Poe, Planner/Assistant Zoning Administrator
Approved by: Paul Ray, Planning Director

Background

The applicant, Connie Mields-Perry, owns property at 775 Camptown Rd, which is located
in the General Residential-8 (GR-8) zoning district and in the City’s municipal limits. The
parcel identification number is 8597-90-2186-000.

The applicant is requesting a variance from UDO Chapter 2.8.D(1), to allow a chain link
fence in their front yard. The ordinance language states that fences must be made of "brick,
stone stucco, wrought iron, wood, or other materials similar in appearance and durability."
[t further states that chain link fences may only be used in the side and rear yard.

"D. Fence and wall materials shall conform to the following requirements:

1. GR and RMX districts:

1. All fences and walls must be of brick, stone, stucco, wrought iron, wood, or
other materials similar in appearance and durability, except that chain
link or woven wire may be used in the side and rear yards.

2. All other wire fences, including barbed wire or concertina wire, are prohibited.

3. Nothing in this chapter shall prevent the administrator from approving
architecturally variant uses of material to allow creative fence design, such as
the contemporary look of heavy-gauged welded wire panels framed in timber.

4. The use of plastic plumbing pipe is a prohibited fence material."”

The ordinance defines the front, side, and rear yards based on the location of the public
right-of-way, not the direction the structure is facing. The applicant's property fronts city
streets - Camptown Road and Blueberry Hill Road - on two property lines. Per the
ordinance, this property is a multi-frontage lot with two front yards (defined as the portion
of the lot between the front building line and the right-of-way). The applicant's fence is
currently positioned along the entire frontage of Blueberry Hill Road and the majority of
the frontage along Camptown Road.

[f the variance is not granted, the applicant will need to remove the fence or replace the
fence with approved materials (brick, stone, wood, etc.).

Notice of the hearing was advertised and posted on the property in accordance with North
Carolina General Statute §160D-4.06.

Page 19 of 43



Discussion

In January 2026, the City received a complaint that the property owners had erected a
black chain link fence without a permit. The City verified the complaint and contacted the
owner of the property. The owner inquired about obtaining a fence permit and started the
online application, but the City was unable to approve the application as chain link fences
are not allowed in any front yard in the GR districts.

The applicant’s property has street frontage along two City Streets, Camptown Rd and

Blueberry Hill Rd. This lot is considered double-fronted per the UDO, and the new fence is
along both streets.

Page 20 of 43



.....

.....
........
.....
11111

61 LIF OF FENG

ke . METALLED B &
_IK,:J' 4 ADJMMCENT TOE
_______ i o - i
FEnce in Red % - "lﬁ"ﬂ
= @/ L"wj,?}' ! EXSTNG
b i O e PREBEAVED

71 ot
7 VEGETATION
/ s

. - bt iy " EA f
i : h*‘"\-i 5 : _'l'*_ ,- ;
PLANTING mIED TO) REVEG i !

The applicant did go through the approval process with Straus Park’s Environmental
Control Committee (ECC), and the fence was approved by this committee; however, the
owner was unaware of the City’s requirements.

The owner states that black chain link fencing is a requirement by the ECC and will discuss
this at the hearing.

Investigation

Upon inspection, the fence has been erected and is currently along both street frontages.

Page 21 of 43



Standards for the Granting of Variances
In order to grant the variance all of the conditions below must be met:

1. Unnecessary hardship would result from the strict application of the regulations. It
shall not be necessary to demonstrate that, in the absence of the variance, no
reasonable use can be made of the property.

2. The hardship results from conditions that are peculiar to the property, such as
location, size, or topography. Hardships resulting from personal circumstances, as
well as hardships resulting from conditions that are common to the neighborhood
or the general public, may not be the basis for granting a variance.

Page 22 of 43



3. The hardship did not result from actions taken by the applicant or the property
owner. The act of purchasing property with knowledge that circumstances exist
that may justify the granting of a variance shall not be regarded as a self-created
hardship.

4. The requested variance is consistent with the spirit, purpose, and intent of the
regulations, such that public safety is secured, and substantial justice achieved.
Substantial justice is not achieved when granting the variance would be injurious to
the neighborhood or to the general welfare.

Economic hardship or the fact that property may be utilized more profitably with a
variance shall not constitute an unnecessary hardship. In its motion the Board should
include Findings of Fact to support each of the items listed above.

Attachments:

1.  Application Files

2. UDO 2.8 fences and walls
3.  Parcel Map

Page 23 of 43



QOWERS #

City of Brevard 95 West Main Street

828-885-5630 Brevard, NC 28712

Record Report for Variance #VAR-26-0001

Record Overview

Record Number: VAR-26-0001

Record Type: Variance

Record Status: In Progress

Record Submitted At: Friday January 9, 2026

Record Address: 775 Camptown Rd, Brevard NC 28712
Record Owner: Katherine Poe

Record Applicant: Connie Mields-Perry

Form Submission

Applicant:
Connie Mields-Perry
connie.mieldsperry@gmail.com, (954) 553-8308

Property Owner (if different):
Connie Mields-Perry
connie.mieldsperry@gmail.com, (954) 553-8308

Property Address: 775 Camptown Rd, Brevard NC 28712
Parcel Identification Number (PIN): 8587-90-2186-000
Zoning District: General Residential - 8 (GR8)

Overlay District: None

Description of Variance Request:

Regulations:
Chain Link or woven wire fencing is allowed in the side and rear yards behind the front building line.
Chain link is not allowed as a primary front yard fence material on residential lots.

Request: Use of black chain link fence on back and side of house (181 linear feet), which is technically considered front
yard in both cases according to zoning map. Our lot faces two streets, but the house was built so the actual front of the
house does not face either street.

Reasons for Variance Request:

Request: Use of black chain link fence on back and side of house, which is technically considered front yard in both cases
according to zoning map. Our lot faces two streets, but the house was built so the actual front of the house does not face
either street.

See attached supplemental document responding to the four hardship criteria.

Page 1 of 2 Page 24 of 43



Signature:
e

Signed in GovWell: Friday January 9, 2026, 1:13pm

Page 2 of 2 Page 25 of 43



Details of Hardships that Compliance with Brevard Fence Regulations would Cause

1)

The overriding goal of the Straus Park Environmental Control Committee (ECC) is to
maintain to the greatest extent possible the ‘Natural’, undisturbed aspects of each
individual property within the community. To this end, it is only permitted to use 4/,
black, vinyl coated fencing because it is the least obtrusive fencing option, being the
building material that is most easily buffered with vegetative screening, to preserve
the natural appearance of the site. Use of other materials, ornamental or prominent
architectural designs, are prohibited. None of the City of Brevard’s approved
fencing materials for use in front yards (wood, brick, stucco, etc.), which border
street fronting side and rear yards are permitted.

There is no other suitable orientation of the house on the lot, due to its size,
configuration and topography, resulting in the side and rear yards both facing
streets, triggering the city’s prohibition of chain link fencing in these areas: The
orientation of the house is the only possible way to incorporate a garage. Plus, any
other orientation would have caused significant disturbance to the site, which is
discouraged by the Straus Park ECC. Any other orientation of the house would have
also either required substantial “cutting in” for a driveway, which is also
discouraged, or constructing a driveway that would be unreasonably steep and
unsafe.

The only possible design/orientation of the house could not have been anticipated
prior to purchasing the lot and was only discovered during the Preliminary Plan
Review with the ECC and not caused by any actions taken by the owner/applicants.
No other site plans were deemed possible during this approval phase, as they would
have substantially disturbed the site, contrary to the overarching building precepts
of the Straus Park ECC.

The requested variance is consistent with the spirit, purpose and intent of both the
City of Brevard and the community of Straus Park. Both entities are pursuing the
same goal of preserving the city’s natural beauty, by only allowing less obtrusive,
visually appealing fence designs, in keeping with the environment of the greater
rural mountain community. The only disagreement is over what materials best
achieve this objective and whether a variance should be granted to be consistent
with the community’s guidelines, or whether the city’s permitted materials should
supersede those of the community. We believe that there are also a couple other
factors that should be considered that may help mitigate the conflict between the
two sets of requirements. First: When approaching the house from either of the two
streets it faces, whether by car or foot, there is a berm around the property,
bordering the frontage streets, ranging approximately 12-18 feet in height, so not in

Page 26 of 43



direct line of sight. Second: There is already considerable vegetation on the front
face of the berm (excluding areas where utilities were installed during construction
and will be re-vegetated as part of the landscape installation). In addition, we went
through a very rigorous approval process for the landscape design with the
community, requiring substantial screening around the fencing. Aside from the
community’s requirement, there was considerable effort on our part to source the
most mature plant material possible, to minimize the time for the landscaping to
“grow in”. These measures were not only a requirement, but also our preference, to
provide us with the maximum enjoyment of the property from the beginning. We
believe that all the above will contribute to the fence being barely visible from the
street.

Page 27 of 43



-~
PLANT SCHEDULE — / \ Y
~
- /
BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE ary ~_ /~
~ ~
— /
~
~
Amelanchier x grandifiora *Autumn Brilliance' / Autumn Brilliance Apple Serviceberry 6 Ht. a ~ / )
T~ /
Cornus florida ‘Cherokee Princess' / Cherokee Princess Dogwood 12°HE 1 / /
/7
llex x 'Nellie R. Stevens' / Nellie R. Stevens Holly 6" HL 1 —
Haesiore srereiic
STONES INMULCH
Athyrium filix-femina / Common Lady Fern 3gal. 25
~
Cormus sericea / Red Twig Dogwood 7gal. 3 PLANTING ADDED
ABOVE \
Dennstaedtia punctiobula / Hay-scented Fer 30al 8 . WALUALONG PROPERTY
LINE \
Dryopteris erythrosora / Autumn Fern 3gal E ~
'

Echinacea purpurea / Coneflower 1gal 12 \

Hydrangea paniculata Limelight / Limelight Panicle Hydrangea 5gal 6

Hycrangea querciolia / Oaldeaf Hydrangea 30al 2

llex glabra 'Shamrock' / Shamrock Inkberry Holly 5gal. 5

Pachysandra terminalis / Japanese Pachysandra 4" 79

Panicum virgatum ‘Heavy Metal' / Heavy Metal Switch Grass 3gal. 97

Rhododendron maximum / Rosebay Rhododendron 3 2

Rhododendron maximum / Rosebay Rhododendron 5" Ht. 25

Rudbeckia hirta / Black-eyed Susan 1gal 44
SYMBOL BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE SPACING QTY
GROUND COVERS

Festuca arundinacea Black Beauty'/ Black Beauty Tall Fescue soc 3121t

EXISTING PRESERVED /
/

y VEGETATION /
SCREENING PLANTING Tﬁ
/ 55'364 BE INSTALLED ON OUTER /
/ EDGE OF FENCE ;
/
X
2
EXISTING PR‘EER\IED
VEGETATION N 180 A e
Z2\N snﬁ&;{ I Saa /
\ o N /A /
2 \ /) z/usnm; H/mw TREETO
X EMAN
GREENING PLANTING TO— Fneeo o /
\ BE INSTALLED ON OUTER FkUM LN h, / /
EDGE OF FENCE N
\ ‘%19@ AN 181 LF OF FENCING /
\ \ NN . %/ INSTALLED IN AREA
PLANTING ADDED TOREVEG . ) o / 7 / GRLEENNTORELD
\ UTILITY CLEARING R ES / s
\ * ) VA /e 2% 59 /
‘O EXISTING /
N PRESERVED @
e — < VEGETATION
o - Pt A0 GREVES ,
fﬁ' X um\lmwx\muen ,
N - EXISTING
N / PRESERVED > ~
VEGETATION \x /
/ /
& e M
€ ° Ty e /
e W ™
—7 SCREENING ~¥ % /
PLANTING TO BE B —_-) /
AN INSTALLED ON X
OUTER | 1
\ EDGE OF FENCE \
N 7
N \ ’
~
0 10
NORTH SCALE: 1" = 10"

PROGRESS PRINT - NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

30 feet

PEl
RE!

1

ofon [ | [

PERRY RESIDENCE

NO. DATE

DATE

RRY
SIDENCE

HALLORAN
design studio

Asheville, NC
P:413.244,0661
e:kyle@hallorandesignstudio.com

Preliminary
For Reviw Puposes Ony
o Constucer

Camptown Road, Lot M102
Brevard, NC 28712
Transylvania County

REVISION
PRELIMECC
FINAL ECC

e
1209124

T4 a0l FINALECCREV2.
10/27/25 FINALECCREV 3

1/9/26 FENCE NOTES

January g, 2026

PLANTING PLAN

SHEET TITLE

L 1.04

SHEET NUMBER

Page 28 of 43



STRAUS PARK

Image courtesy of the Straus Park Development Corp.

Straus Park

Environmental Control Committee
PO Box 580
Arden, NC 28704

Design Manual

Guidelines
Including Application and Approval Procedures, Construction Aspects,
And General Policies

May 2023 Edition

Page 29 of 43



5.6 Permanent Fences

The ECC requires that above ground fences shall be reviewed on a case-by-case basis. Each site is unique and
requests for approval of fences shall be reviewed based on the project’s site-specific conditions and its
compliance with general objectives and site planning concepts and goals of Straus Park. Approval of any fence
does not establish precedent or have bearing on future requests. Generally, Straus Park is intended to be a
natural, open landscape, emphasizing the natural over the manmade.

a. Fences shall not be permitted in front yards or side yards, except for small wooden fences serving
to obscure HVAC equipment. These fences require ECC authorization.

b. Functional fences shall be as unobtrusive as possible and shall be allowed only when they are not
visually prominent. Setbacks for fences are equal to the required building setbacks.

c. Maximum fence height shall be sixty (60) inches.

d. Functional fences shall be black or bronze vinyl-coated steel chain link. Generally, no other
materials will be allowed. Decorative fences are discouraged but may be considered as part of an
overall landscape plan. Materials shall be natural and shall blend with the natural landscape and
the overall architecture of the house. Overly formal or grand fences are prohibited.

The presence and maintenance of existing vegetation visually screening the fence is strongly encouraged and
will be considered in the review of any request. Maintenance of such landscape buffers is an on-going
condition for fence approval. Removal of landscape buffers will revoke approval of a fence and the ECC may
require the Owner to remove the fence.

5.7 Landscape Structures and Site Amenities

According to the original Straus Park Design Manual paragraph 1.3.1, Planning, “Preservation of Straus Park’s
existing natural beauty and heritage was the design team’s first priority”. The current amendment to the
covenants for Straus Park recorded on November 14, 2012, paragraph 5.4 states:

“Proper Condition. No part of Straus Park shall be used in a manner, nor shall any condition be
allowed to exist thereon, which would constitute a fire hazard, a nuisance or which would produce
or allow emanating therefrom noxious odors or fumes, excessive noise or vibrations.”

A goal of Straus Park is to promote and protect the subtle sounds of the outdoors, such as birdsong, the rustling
of wind through the trees, and the trickle of flowing streams. This is in keeping with the overall intent of the
Design Guidelines to create and maintain a Mountain Park Architecture evocative of the natural environment.

In accordance with Straus Park’s covenants regarding lessening noise while enhancing our natural
environment, permanent private basketball courts, platform tennis courts, one-wall paddleball courts, or the
like are prohibited. Permanent or temporary basketball, soccer, or football goal posts (or similar) within public
view are prohibited on private property. Likewise, amenities not deemed by the ECC to blend-in with our
natural setting, such as putting greens or synthetic turf dog runs, etc., may be prohibited at the sole and absolute
discretion of the ECC. See also paragraphs 6.1.10 and 6.2.10, Landscape Structures and Site Amenities.

-34 -

Page 30 of 43



2.8. Fences and walls.

A. All fences and walls shall be constructed so that the best face faces outward from the parcel upon which it is

constructed and towards adjacent properties. The "best face" shall generally mean the side opposite to framing
members.

B. Fences and walls shall not be placed within public utility easements or public right-of-way without first securing an
encroachment agreement from the City of Brevard, the North Carolina Departmentof Transportation, or other
appropriate entity.

C. Fence or wall height shall be measured from the side of the fence or wall that is exterior to the property as the
vertical distance between the lowest adjacent ground level, natural or filled, and the top of the fence material. Fence
heights are restricted as follows:

1. Inthe General Industrial district, and public safety and other critical facilities. Fences or walls shall be no greater
than six feet in height in the front yard(s) and no greater than eight feet in height in the side and rear yards.

2. All other districts and uses. Fences or walls shall be no greater_than four feet in height in the front yard(s) and
no more than eight feet in the side and rear yards.

3. No closed fence or wall shall be greater than two-and-a-half feet in height when placed within the sight triangle
of any intersection as specified in Section 9.5 of this ordinance. Open fences are exempt from this provision.

D. Fence and wall materials shall conform to the following requirements:
1.  GR and RMX districts:

a. All fences and walls must be of brick, stone, stucco, wrought iron, wood, or other materials similar in
appearance and durability, except that chain link or woven wire may be used in the side and rear yards.

b. All other wire fences, including barbed wire or concertina wire, are prohibited.

c. Nothing in this chapter shall prevent the administrator from approving architecturally variant uses of
material to allow creative fence design, such as the contemporary look of heavy-gauged welded wire
panels framed in timber.

d. The use of plastic plumbing pipe is a prohibited fence material.
2. CMX, DMX, PGX, NMX, and IC districts:

a. All fences and walls must be of brick, stone, stucco, wrought iron, wood, or other materials similar in
appearance and durability.

b. Chain link wire fences may be used as secure enclosures internal to the property or site subject to the
following requirements:

i. Chain link fences shall not be visible from a public right-of-way,
ii. Chain link fences shall not serve as a perimeter fence or property line fence unless buffered by a
type A buffer yard on all sides, and then only in the side or rear yard behind the front building line.

c.  All other wire fences, including barbed wire or concertina wire, are prohibited.

d. All walls and fences shall be materially similar to other walls and fences in the same block or general
vicinity.

3. General Industrial districts, public safety facilities, and other critical facilities:
a. All fences and walls must be of brick, stone, stucco, wrought iron, wood, or other materials similar in

appearance and durability, and shall be materially similar to other walls and fences on the same block or
general vicinity.

b. Vinyl coated, chain link fencing may be approved by the administrator as perimeter fencing with additional
filtering through openings using opaque or semi opaque slats or screening or by installing a type A
landscaping buffer between incompatible uses, between different zoning districts or where visible from a
public street.

4. Barbed wire: Barbed wire may be permitted within agricultural operations with livestock and any bona-fide
agricultural operations within any zoning district.

Page 31 of 43


https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/brevard-nc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=287
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/brevard-nc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=399
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/brevard-nc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=432
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/brevard-nc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=279
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/brevard-nc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=504
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/brevard-nc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=288
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/brevard-nc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=447
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/brevard-nc/doc-viewer.aspx#secid-45
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/brevard-nc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=289
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/brevard-nc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=492
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/brevard-nc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=417
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/brevard-nc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=502
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/brevard-nc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=389
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/brevard-nc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=506
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/brevard-nc/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=465

E. Retaining walls shall also conform to the following requirements:

1.  Retaining walls should minimize the impacts of cut and fill on a site.
2. The height of any retaining wall should not exceed five feet unless required to be higher for engineering
reasons.

a. An increase in retaining wall height may be allowed if the proposed design minimizes the cut and fill
impacts and enhances the existing landscape.

3. In areas where cuts are steeper, a stepped or terraced wall should be used. Large, unbroken retaining walls in a
uniform plane should be avoided.

(Ord. No. 2022-76, § 1(Exh. A), 12-5-22; Ord. No. 2023-22, § 1(Exh. A), 6-4-23; Ord. No. 2023-61, § 1(Exh. A), 12-18-23;
Ord. No. 2024-23, § 1(Exh. A), 6-3-24; Ord. No. 2024-46, § 1(Exh. A), 12-2-24; Ord. No. 2025-39, § 1 (Exh. A), 8-4-25)
Effective on: 8/4/2025

Page 32 of 43


https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/brevard-nc/doclibrary.aspx?id=b3b4e241-2073-4c09-b174-79740a84d4bf
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/brevard-nc/doclibrary.aspx?id=3f00ff81-d3be-4b00-8dd4-03ec96e3dd14
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/brevard-nc/doclibrary.aspx?id=ef8fb255-be16-48e4-b0e5-4127e48c3dd0
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/brevard-nc/doclibrary.aspx?id=675db001-b9b9-40b2-9566-2c6dc6a97efc
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/brevard-nc/doclibrary.aspx?id=16696e40-0be4-407e-baca-5f2c7fe2de1d

VIAR-26-0001: 775 Camptown R

Legend
| [ var-26-000t

| [ ] parcels

General Residential-8
(GRY)

Prepared by City of Brevard Planning Department using Transylvania County parcel data.

Page 33 of 43



STAFF REPORT
Board of Adjustment, Tuesday, March 3, 2026

Title: VAR-26-0002 - 85 Trent Rd.

Speaker: Katherine Poe

Prepared by: Katherine Poe, Planner/Assistant Zoning Administrator
Approved by: Paul Ray, Planning Director

Background

The applicant, Farrah Baynard, is the agent for property at 85 Trent Rd, which is located in
the General Residential-4 (GR-4) zoning district and the Manufactured Home Overlay
within the City’s Extra Territorial Jurisdiction (ET]). The parcel identification number is
8575-89-5653-000.

The applicant is requesting a variance from the Unified Development Ordinance’s (UDO)
Chapter 2.7.2 for principal structures setbacks. The request is for a fifteen (15) feet
variance from the required twenty-five (25) feet setback for the rear yard, resulting in a
ten (10) foot setback.

Notice of the hearing was advertised and posted on the property in accordance with North
Carolina General Statute §160D-4.06.

Discussion
Since the property is in the ET], public sewer is not available, and any development will
rely on a private septic tank.

The property's depth ranges from roughly 80 feet on the southern portion to roughly 100
feet on the northern portion.

Principal building setbacks in GR-4 are 15 feet from the right-of-way, 6 feet from the side
property lines and 25 feet from the rear property line (City UDO Section 2.3).

The preexisting state-permitted septic field is located towards the front portion of the lot.
The NC Health Code, which is administered by the Transylvania County Public Health
Department, dictates the minimum distance required from a building to the well and septic
systems. The applicant reports the relatively narrow depth combined with the preexisting
subterranean infrastructure creates a technical layout issue that prevents the placement of
a home with the 25 foot rear yard setback.

Page 34 of 43



B e oy P, . L
: T I e T T

M R e e T

Standards for the Granting of Variances
In order to grant the variance all of the conditions below must be met:

1. Unnecessary hardship would result from the strict application of the regulations. It
shall not be necessary to demonstrate that, in the absence of the variance, no
reasonable use can be made of the property.

2. The hardship results from conditions that are peculiar to the property, such as
location, size, or topography. Hardships resulting from personal circumstances, as
well as hardships resulting from conditions that are common to the neighborhood
or the general public, may not be the basis for granting a variance.

3. The hardship did not result from actions taken by the applicant or the property
owner. The act of purchasing property with knowledge that circumstances exist
that may justify the granting of a variance shall not be regarded as a self-created
hardship.

Page 35 of 43



4. The requested variance is consistent with the spirit, purpose, and intent of the
regulations, such that public safety is secured, and substantial justice achieved.
Substantial justice is not achieved when granting the variance would be injurious to
the neighborhood or to the general welfare.

Economic hardship or the fact that property may be utilized more profitably with a
variance shall not constitute an unnecessary hardship. In its motion the Board should
include Findings of Fact to support each of the items listed above.

Attachments:
1.  Application Materials

Page 36 of 43



QOWERS #

City of Brevard 95 West Main Street

828-885-5630 Brevard, NC 28712

Record Report for Variance #VAR-26-0002

Record Overview

Record Number: VAR-26-0002

Record Type: Variance

Record Status: In Progress

Record Submitted At: Thursday January 15, 2026
Record Address: 85 TRENT RD, Brevard NC 28712
Record Owner: Katherine Poe

Record Applicant: Farrah Baynard

Form Submission

Applicant:
Matthew Rigdon
matthewdrigdon@gmail.com, (828) 260-1544

Property Owner (if different):

Trent Joseph Richard ETAL Rick Trent
rick6647@gmail.com, (828) 553-0124

Property Address: 85 TRENT RD, Brevard NC 28712
Property owner information:

Trent Joseph Richard Etal

16 Augustine Ln
Crossville, TN 38558

Parcel Identification Number (PIN): 8575895653000
Zoning District: General Residential - 4 (GR4)
Overlay District: Manufacture Home Overlay District

Description of Variance Request:

Reduce the rear yard setback to 10 feet as the regulations say 25 feet. Would like to place a new home in the same place
as the old.

Reasons for Variance Request:

This lot is only .20 acres. Previously had a single wide trailer on it for years. That is the only place to go back with a new
home of equal or smaller size as the septic system is in place already and you could not move the home forward due to
being in the septic field. There are no other sites to place a home on this lot because of the well and septic placement for
the home removed. Due to ETJ and new setbacks it is making it impossible to use this lot as it was originally intended. This

Page 1 of 2 Page 37 of 43



would have no use.

Si ture:
ignature Ep%&

Signed in GovWell: Thursday January 15, 2026, 2:31pm

Page 2 of 2 Page 38 of 43



2 Q0 B0 10+ Judte 5STS5-59 -Su53-~000

| ',%UKCJP@;P@M ine, 1
® | %%S /V%%%/ 71Cs Z@“\f)

[leighbor

N e ed alaiana. From 28 = 00
Rock linw +o /O FF SO Home
Wil be Possible

Page 39 of 43


Katherine Poe
Pencil


ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH SECTION
106 EAST MORGAN STREET

SNTE 105
BREVARD:, NC 28712
£28.884,3139 FAX: 828.884.3259
transyhvaniahwalth.org

PIN: 575 -89 -SWS3-006 Eeceipt#: oN79 3 Y7se

Agent/Contractor:

N TRANSYLVANIA

" PI-IUEBAIL.TH

EXISTING SYSTEM INSPECTION REPORT
{For Building Inspection Department)

.

Phone: X%/ {33 -9.:)/5’ CNTACT =2 e com o/ i

Mailing Address: 5 AM
7
Date System Installed: MMM@ML—L? 7S ‘?_1“ L Vel ot located

Name (s} of Qriginal Permittee: Gmﬁaﬁ& %/uz..-/ <7 aX e \—\eawb\ D&Q‘t‘/ ]
Dlrectznsto property: éQJJ 7o ﬁm 7‘?0 /?- L Vend O ﬂa@ﬁ

7{274 A;/Cﬂ'yc( P I tsille Asorir_ 927 L

£

/
Property Address: 675——{_74,&4% )éz\{_
Subdivision:__ﬂ }7'42'

Section/Phase: Lot:
inspection requested for:
BMmobile Home Setup [ Addition O Business
Oremodeling 0 Connect%y/oUnu O other
No. of bedrooms upon connection/completion: Current No. of Occupants: O
Remarks: . F“ r=| L¥.8

Owner/Agent Signature: L}j:

Date: 9 ~ A 72— /?

] understand that Transylvania Public Health has the right of entry onto the property to perform requested services.

At the time of the inspection there was no visible evidence of a malfunction in the system. The system is approved for

proposed (fonnec s/addltlons/renovatlons or other improvements.
Signed: \ mN__ ~—-—~ tRE‘r’t_‘% Date: Cl LB NAD
THIS REPORT IS VALID THR(}UGH (2,29, '8

ra

i i

-\)aﬂ";wxﬂ

Teendt Road

WCLY ———

__-—-—-—_—_————-’,/f N . [ N
% \r‘d&? v @M&Lm 2.5 M;n,'@)m Al v
* B ?Jm-— ook Proed .

\
\ P/ - OppR rote

?\:‘r)(\eﬂec\ 2 bedicenn
M\D \e b\()t\ne

o

- Pane 40 of 43

—e———— v




85 Trent Road Brevard NC 28712

Variance Requested

1. Unnecessary Hardship
Finding: Strict application of the regulations would result in unnecessary hardship.

Response: "Strict adherence to the 25-foot rear setback requirement creates an unnecessary
hardship by rendering the property's established building envelope unusable. The lot is a
modest .20 acres with a long-standing history of residential use. Because the existing, permitted
septic system is located in the front/center of the lot and the well is in a fixed location, the only
viable area for a residence is the original footprint at the rear. Enforcing the new 25-foot setback
would force the replacement dwelling into the septic repair area or directly over the lines, which
is a violation of health department codes and physically impossible. The hardship here is the
total loss of the primary residential function of the land, which has been established for
decades."

2. Conditions Peculiar to the Property

Finding: The hardship results from conditions peculiar to the property (size, location,
topography) and not personal circumstances.

Response: "The hardship is unique to this specific parcel due to its small size (.20 acres) and
the fixed placement of essential subterranean infrastructure. Unlike larger or undeveloped lots in
the area, this property is 'locked' by the historical placement of the well and septic system
designed specifically for a single-wide trailer. These are physical, immovable characteristics of
the land’s development. The conflict between the new setback requirements and the
pre-existing, state-permitted septic field is a technical layout issue peculiar to this lot’s
dimensions and not a result of the applicant's personal preferences or financial situation."

3. Not a Result of Applicant Actions
Finding: The hardship did not result from actions taken by the applicant or property owner.

Response: "The hardship is a direct result of a change in local zoning ordinances that occurred
after the property was already developed. The owner did not create the small lot size, nor did
they place the septic and well in a manner to intentionally circumvent current rules; these were
installed according to the regulations in place at the time of original development. While a permit
was obtained in 2018, its expiration coincided with a shift in setback enforcement. The necessity
for a variance arises solely from the evolution of the zoning code impacting a 'non-conforming'
lot of record, rather than any elective action or purposeful neglect by the owner."

Page 41 of 43



4. Consistent with Spirit and Intent of the Regulations

Finding: The variance is consistent with the spirit of the law, ensures public safety, and
achieves substantial justice.

Response: "Granting this variance achieves substantial justice by allowing the owner to
maintain the long-standing residential use of the property. The spirit of the setback regulation is
to ensure light, air, and separation between dwellings. Because the trailer will be replaced in the
exact footprint where one sat for years, there is no new impact on the privacy or safety of
neighbors. Furthermore, public safety is actually protected by granting this variance, as it allows
the home to be placed at a safe distance from the septic system. Forcing the home forward into
the septic field would create a significant public health hazard. Allowing a single-wide trailer on a
lot designed specifically for one preserves the neighborhood’s character and ensures the
property does not become a vacant, unmaintained eyesore."

Page 42 of 43



%, % The City of !
u

North Carolina

PROPERTY OWNER ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

PROPERTY INFORMATION

Property Address:

85 Trent Rd Brevard NC

Property PIN (Tax ID #):
8575-89-5653-000

APPLICANT /AGENT INFORMATION

Name:

Farrah Baynard

Company / Organization:

Bluaxis Realty

Email:

farrah@bluaxis.com

" 808 553-6460

APPLICATION / PETITION INFORMATION

subdivision):

Acre lot.

Nature of Approval(s) Requested (e.g., rezoning, variance, residential development, sign, change of use,

Asking for a variance on the back property line setback from 25 ft to 10 ft to go back with mobile
home in the same spot as there was once a home there as there is no other options for this .20

The persons listed below do affirm that they are the legal owners of the above-reference property and:

e hereby give authorization and permission for the applicant to submit the application(s) or

petition(s);

e authorize the applicant to act as my agent in all matters, formal and information, and to receive all
official correspondence as it relates to the application(s) or petition(s);
e consent to all condition and/or stipulations that may be imposed or adopted by the City of Brevard
as part of this petition / application approval; and
e grant permission to the Zoning Administrator, and designees thereof, to enter upon the property
represented herein for the purpose of administering the application(s) or petition(s).

OWNER’S NAME (PRINT) OWNER'’S SIGNATURE DATE
Rick Trent RICK TRENT 114126
Lan a VO I | en d 0 rf Lana Vollendorf L 01/14/2026
Rose Rice Rose Rice 1/14/2026

Package ID: 25645AC73E726096ADA17EF8D1A806FB

Page 43 of 43



	I. Welcome
	II. Introduction of Board Members
	III. Certification of Quorum
	IV. Approval of Agenda
	V. Approval of Minutes
	a. BOA_Draft Minutes 01/06/2026
	BOA_Draft Minutes_2026.01.06

	b. BOA_Draft Minutes 02/03/2026
	BOA_Draft Minutes_2026.02.03


	VI. Approval of Orders
	VII. Unfinished Business
	VIII. New Business
	a. VAR-26-0001-- 775 Camptown Rd.
	VAR-26-0001  - 775 Camptown Rd.

	b. VAR-26-0002 - 85 Trent Rd.
	VAR-26-0002 - 85 Trent Rd.


	IX. Remarks
	a. Rescheduling: April 7th, 2026, Meeting (No Quorum)

	X. Adjourn



